FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/4/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/3/2024 4:30 PM

NO. ____ Case #: 1031432
(COA NO. 85919-6-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAMIEN McCARTER,

Petitioner.

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER PETRONI
Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

This Court's longstanding precedent holds that a violation of the accused's constitutional rights requires reversal unless the evidence is so overwhelming that no reasonable juror could acquit. Here, the prosecution conceded and the Court of Appeals agreed that the trial court violated Damien McCarter's rights to the assistance of counsel and to due process. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held the error was harmless because the evidence provided "a sufficient basis" for the jury to convict him. This reasoning turns the constitutional harmless error standard on its head, and it calls for this Court's review.

The U.S. Supreme Court has made clear time and again that every fact necessary to authorize a sentence above what the verdict alone would otherwise permit must be proven to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt.

Here, the jury’s finding that two aggravating factors existed was not enough—the trial court had to go on to find that “substantial and compelling reasons” justified an exceptional sentence. This judicial fact-finding violated Mr. McCarter’s right to a jury trial and warrants this Court’s review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Damien McCarter asks this Court for review.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. McCarter seeks review of the Court of Appeals’s decision in *State v. McCarter*, No. 85919-6-I (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 25, 2024). The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration on May 6, 2024.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. This Court’s cases make clear that a violation of Mr. McCarter’s constitutional rights requires reversal unless the prosecution proves it was harmless

beyond a reasonable doubt. The evidence unaffected by the error must be so overwhelming no reasonable juror could vote to acquit. Here, the Court of Appeals held a violation of Mr. McCarter's rights to counsel and due process was harmless merely because the evidence was "a sufficient basis" to convict. This application of the constitutional harmless error standard contradicts this Court's precedent and leaves Mr. McCarter without a remedy for the trial court's violation of his rights. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

2. Mr. McCarter's right to a jury trial prohibits a witness from offering an opinion on his guilt. Here, multiple prosecution witnesses opined A.M.'s injuries were "abusive," "non-accidental," or "inflicted." This testimony amounted to opinions the child was the victim of an intentional criminal act. As Mr. McCarter was the only potential abuser, the opinions also

pointed the finger at him as the culprit. The Court of Appeals's holding this opinion testimony did not violate his right to a jury trial contradicts its own precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3). This Court should grant review.

3. Published precedent reads the particularly-vulnerable-victim aggravator to require evidence the victim's vulnerability was a substantial factor in the crime. Similarly, the case law interprets the position-of-trust aggravator to require the accused deliberately used their position of trust to facilitate the crime. Here, the Court of Appeals held the record supported both aggravators merely because A.M. was vulnerable, and because a position of trust existed, without discussing published opinions that require more. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(4).

4. Every fact needed to authorize the trial court to impose a sentence above the standard range must be

pleaded and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Here, the jury did not find every fact necessary to authorize an exceptional sentence. Instead, the trial court found “substantial and compelling reasons” justified such a sentence. Mr. McCarter’s exceptional sentence violates his right to a trial by jury. RAP 13.4(b)(3). This Court should grant review.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Two-month-old A.M. passed away in the hospital from head injuries. RP 835–41, 1065, 1080. He also had rib fractures at different stages of healing. RP 1004.

Mr. McCarter explained A.M. fell head-first onto the floor when Mr. McCarter stumbled while carrying the child in a car seat. RP 1138–39, 2489–90. Doctors who treated A.M. did not believe his injuries were consistent with an accidental fall. RP 899, 1064–65, 1703. The prosecution charged Mr. McCarter with

second-degree felony murder premised on first-degree assault of a child. CP 104. It alleged two aggravating factors: a particularly vulnerable victim and abuse of a position of trust. CP 105.

Before the trial, Mr. McCarter moved to exclude testimony that A.M.'s injuries were "abusive" or other similar terms because such opinions usurp the jury's role by declaring the child was the victim of a crime. CP 150; RP 133. The trial court denied the motion. RP 135–36. At trial, a series of prosecution experts opined A.M.'s injuries were "abusive," "non-accidental," or "inflicted." RP 776–77, 850, 925, 1014, 1064–65, 1080–81, 1123, 1304, 1401, 1599, 1702, 1902–03.

Five experts testified for Mr. McCarter. A radiologist and a pediatric pathologist testified A.M. showed signs of a metabolic bone disease, such as rickets, that would make the child's ribs so fragile even

normal handling could fracture them. RP 1737, 2085–86, 2168. Another pathologist explained that a clinician cannot tell whether an injury resulted from “abuse or accident” based only on the injury itself. RP 1968. A neuroradiologist said a blood collection in A.M.’s skull could have resulted from his traumatic birth. RP 2426–27. A biomechanical engineer cited research suggesting A.M.’s head injuries were consistent with an accidental fall. RP 2750–52, 2762–69.

Mr. McCarter’s counsel sought to impress on the jurors the weight of the reasonable doubt standard by saying they should “be able to make a decision and leave and be confident in that decision ten and twenty years from now.” RP 3007. The prosecution objected to this description without stating a basis. RP 3007. The trial court sustained the objection. RP 3007.

The jury found Mr. McCarter guilty and both aggravating circumstances true. CP 487–89. Without elaboration, the trial court found “substantial and compelling reasons” warranted an exceptional sentence. CP 543. It imposed a sentence of thirty years, over eleven and a half years above the high end of the standard range. CP 524–25.

The Court of Appeals affirmed.

F. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- 1. The Court of Appeals contradicted precedent in finding a constitutional error harmless merely because the evidence was sufficient to convict.**

A violation of Mr. McCarter’s constitutional rights requires reversal unless the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Frost*, 160 Wn.2d 765, 782, 161 P.3d 361 (2007). The prosecution bears the burden of showing a constitutional error was

harmless. *State v. Coristine*, 177 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 (2013).

Washington courts use the “overwhelming untainted evidence” test—the court must reverse unless the evidence unaffected by the error “is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt.” *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). If “[r]easonable and dispassionate minds may look at the same evidence and reach a different result,” the error is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 886–87, 246 P.3d 796 (2011).

On the other hand, merely that the evidence was sufficient to permit a conviction is not enough to hold even a non-constitutional error harmless. *State v. Gunderson*, 181 Wn.2d 916, 926, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014).

The state and federal constitutions guarantee Mr. McCarter's rights to the assistance of counsel and to due process. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22; U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV § 1. These rights constrain the trial court's discretion to limit Mr. McCarter's closing argument. *Frost*, 160 Wn.2d at 772–73. In particular, erroneously sustaining a prosecutor's objection to defense counsel's correct statement of the burden of proof violates the rights to counsel and due process. *State v. Osman*, 192 Wn. App. 355, 368–69, 377, 366 P.3d 956 (2016).

Here, the prosecution conceded and the Court of Appeals agreed the trial court violated Mr. McCarter's constitutional rights. Br. of Resp. at 61–63; Slip op. at 17–18. Counsel told the jury the reasonable doubt standard “lets you and any other jury that serves be able to make a decision and leave and be confident in that decision ten and twenty years from now.” RP

3006–07. In sustaining the prosecution’s objection to this correct statement of the burden of proof, the trial court violated Mr. McCarter’s rights to counsel and due process. Slip op. at 17–18.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held the error harmless because the prosecution’s evidence was “a sufficient basis from which the jury could conclude” Mr. McCarter assaulted his child. Slip op. at 18–19. The Court cited the fact Mr. McCarter was the last person alone with the child, as well as the prosecution’s expert testimony that the child’s injuries were not consistent with an accidental fall. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals flipped the constitutional harmless error standard on its head. It was not enough a reasonable jury could conclude Mr. McCarter was guilty. *Gunderson*, 181 Wn.2d at 926. The prosecution’s evidence must have been “so overwhelming” that *no*

reasonable juror could vote to acquit. *Frost*, 160 Wn.2d at 782; *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 426; *accord Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 886–87. That was hardly the case here, where Mr. McCarter’s medical experts rebutted each of the prosecution’s expert opinions. Br. of App. at 52–53.

Aside from concluding the evidence was enough to permit—but not require—a conviction, the Court of Appeals’s only reason for holding the error harmless was that the trial court read the jury the pattern instruction defining the reasonable doubt standard. Slip op. at 19. The Court overlooked that the judge who read that instruction went on to sustain an erroneous objection to Mr. McCarter’s correct statement of the burden of proof. The trial court’s error could not help but suggest to the jury that counsel’s description of the burden was *incorrect* and exaggerated the degree of certainty required.

The Court of Appeals's holding that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt merely because the evidence provided "a sufficient basis" for the jury to convict contravenes this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The error, and the Court of Appeals's erroneous refusal to remedy it, burdens Mr. McCarter's rights to the assistance of counsel and to due process. RAP 13.4(b)(3). This Court should grant review.

2. The Court of Appeals contradicted its published precedent in holding the prosecution's witnesses did not offer an opinion on Mr. McCarter's guilt.

Opinion testimony as to Mr. McCarter's guilt is "clearly inappropriate." *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). An opinion of this kind "violates [Mr. McCarter's] constitutional right to a jury trial, including the independent determination of the facts by the jury." *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753,

759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) (quoting *State v. Carlin*, 40 Wn. App. 698, 701, 700 P.2d 323 (1985)).

An expert witness improperly invades the jury's role by testifying an alleged victim's injuries were the result of an intentional act by the accused. *See State v. Florczak*, 76 Wn. App. 55, 74, 882 P.2d 199 (1994). In *Florczak*, a social worker at a sexual assault center opined the alleged child victim had PTSD. *Id.* at 59, 74. The social worker went on to testify the disorder was "secondary, in this case, in [KT]'s case, to sexual abuse." *Id.* Because the only potential abusers were the two codefendants, the testimony the child was abused amounted to an opinion that they were guilty—"which was for the jury alone to decide." *Id.*

As in *Florczak*, numerous prosecution witnesses invaded the jury's province by opining Mr. McCarter intentionally injured the child. Br. of App. at 48–49.

Several opined the child’s injuries were “abusive,” “non-accidental,” or “inflicted.” *E.g.*, RP 1064–65, 1123, 1401. Several more said expressly the child was the victim of “child abuse.” RP 1008, 1072, 1080–81, 1304, 1702. In fact, a pathologist testified the child’s rib fractures were “secondary to physical child abuse,” almost exactly the language the Court of Appeals found problematic in *Florczak*. RP 1599.

As Mr. McCarter was the last person alone with the child, he was the only person who could have “inflicted” “abusive” or “non-accidental” injuries on the child consistent with “child abuse.” The prosecution argued as much in closing. RP 2955. As in *Florczak*, the many opinions that someone injured the child intentionally amounted to opinions that Mr. McCarter was guilty.

In holding otherwise, the Court of Appeals misapplied *Florczak* and misread the record. The Court reasoned the opinions in this case did not necessarily point to Mr. McCarter as the abuser because some of the child's injuries were older. Slip op. at 11. However, the prosecution's experts uniformly opined that the injuries that caused the child's death were abusive, necessarily pointing the finger at Mr. McCarter.

The Court of Appeals also observed the evidence of the child's injuries was stronger than the evidence of sexual abuse in *Florczak*, but did not explain how this distinction affects whether expert testimony amounts to an opinion on guilt. Slip op. at 11. Nor does the fact the Court has previously held "abusive head trauma" is generally accepted in the relevant scientific community establish that an opinion a child's injury was abusive can never invade the jury's fact-finding role. *Id.* (citing

In re Pers. Restraint of Morris, 189 Wn. App. 484, 493–94, 355 P.3d 355 (2015)).

Finally, the Court of Appeals falsely contended Mr. McCarter did not challenge the medical examiner’s opinion “the child’s death was a homicide.” Slip op. at 12. On the contrary, Mr. McCarter pointed out the medical examiner based his cause of death on the opinions of other prosecution medical witnesses, whose opinions Mr. McCarter did challenge. Br. of App. at 13; RP 1874–76.

The repeated opinions that the child’s injuries were “abusive,” “non-accidental,” “inflicted,” or “child abuse” established the actus reus and mens rea of the charged crime and pointed to Mr. McCarter as the culprit. Keith A. Findley, et al, *Feigned Consensus: Usurping the Law in Shaken Baby Syndrome/Abusive Head Trauma Prosecutions*, 2019 Wis. L. Rev. 1211,

1246–48 (2019). In holding these opinions did not invade the jury’s role, the Court of Appeals’s decision is in conflict with *Florczak* and burdens Mr. McCarter’s right to a trial by jury. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3). This Court should grant review.

3. The Court of Appeals’s decision the record supported an exceptional sentence contradicts this Court’s precedent and its own.

Before the trial court may issue a sentence above the standard range, the prosecution must prove, and the jury must find, one or more aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt. RCW 9.94A.535(3); RCW 9.94A.537(1), (3). This Court must reverse an exceptional sentence where, viewed favorably to the prosecution, the evidence does not allow a reasonable juror to find beyond a reasonable doubt that an aggravating circumstance exists. *State v. Stubbs*, 170

Wn.2d 117, 123, 240 P.3d 143 (2010); *State v. Rich*, 184 Wn.2d 897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (2016).

The evidence does not support either of the two aggravating factors the jury found proven here. CP 488–89. The prosecution did not prove A.M. had a vulnerability that was a substantial factor in the alleged crime. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b). It also did not prove Mr. McCarter used a position of trust for the specific purpose of facilitating a crime against A.M. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n). The Court of Appeals’s decision to the contrary departs from precedent.

a. In holding A.M.’s vulnerability alone showed his vulnerability was a substantial factor, the Court of Appeals contradicted precedent.

An exceptional sentence is permissible if the accused “knew or should have known that the victim of the current offense was particularly vulnerable or incapable of resistance.” RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b). The

prosecution “must show (1) that the defendant knew or should have known (2) of the victim’s particular vulnerability and (3) that vulnerability must have been a substantial factor in the commission of the crime.”

State v. Suleiman, 158 Wn.2d 280, 291–92, 143 P.3d 795 (2006) (emphasis omitted); *accord* CP 482.

That vulnerability was a substantial factor requires more than the vulnerability itself. *State v. Serrano*, 95 Wn. App. 700, 712, 977 P.2d 47 (1999).¹ In several published cases, this Court and the Court of Appeals held the accused person must have exploited the victim’s vulnerability in committing the crime.

For example, that an orchard worker was in “a caged platform on a hydraulic lift,” and therefore

¹ In codifying an exclusive list of aggravating circumstances after *Blakely*, the Legislature did not intend to alter preexisting case law interpreting those aggravating circumstances. Laws of 2005, ch. 68, § 1.

vulnerable to being shot, was not enough where the vulnerability was not a substantial factor in the decision to shoot him. *Serrano*, 95 Wn. App. at 710–12. Likewise, that the victim was alone in her house was not enough where her isolation “was not the reason [the accused] chose her as a victim.” *State v. Barnett*, 104 Wn. App. 191, 204–05, 16 P.3d 74 (2001).

Courts find vulnerability a substantial factor where it influenced the commission of the crime. *See State v. Cardenas*, 129 Wn.2d 1, 11–12, 914 P.2d 57 (1996) (deliberate choice to drive where pedestrians walk); *State v. Ross*, 71 Wn. App. 556, 565–66, 861 P.2d 473 (1993), *as amended*, 883 P.2d 329 (1994) (deliberate choice to victimize a person due to vulnerability). The same is true when the accused creates the vulnerability. *See State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 680, 260 P.3d 884 (2011) (assailants made

victim vulnerable by ganging up on him); *State v. Ogden*, 102 Wn. App. 357, 367–68, 7 P.3d 839 (2000) (knocking victim out and then further attacking them).

Though the child here was likely vulnerable, the prosecution presented no evidence Mr. McCarter abused the child *because* he was vulnerable. *Barnett*, 104 Wn. App. at 204–05; *Serrano*, 95 Wn. App. at 712. On the contrary, the prosecution’s theory was that Mr. McCarter shook the child because the child’s crying “frustrated” and “overwhelmed” him. RP 2938, 2944–47. According to the prosecution, the source of Mr. McCarter’s frustration was A.M.’s fussiness and the family’s financial trouble—it did not even suggest A.M.’s vulnerability was a factor. RP 2944–45.

The evidence certainly did not show that Mr. McCarter created A.M.’s vulnerability. *Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d at 680; *Ogden*, 102 Wn. App. at 367–68.

In holding the prosecution proved the child's vulnerability was a substantial factor, the Court of Appeals contradicted the above precedent by collapsing the second and third elements into one. The Court reasoned A.M.'s vulnerability was a substantial factor because "it enabled [Mr.] McCarter to inflict injuries" on him. Slip op. at 23. In other words, the child's vulnerability was a substantial factor because the child was vulnerable. Absent is any reasoning Mr. McCarter selected A.M. as a victim *because* of his vulnerability.

Rather than cite any of the above cases, the Court of Appeals relied exclusively on *State v. Berube*, 150 Wn.2d 498, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003). Slip op. at 23. But *Berube* is inapposite. There, this Court did not address what it means for a victim's vulnerability to be a substantial factor in the crime—it held only that this aggravator is not inherent in homicide by abuse. 150

Wn.2d at 513. *Berube* does not support the Court of Appeals failure to discuss the opinions cited above.

The Court of Appeals found it “[m]ost critical[]” that the trial court correctly instructed the jury that A.M.’s vulnerability had to be a substantial factor. Slip op. at 23–24. But the text of the instruction is irrelevant to Mr. McCarter’s sufficiency challenge—all that matters is whether a reasonable jury could find the prosecution proved all elements of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt. *Rich*, 184 Wn.2d at 903. This reasoning underscores the Court’s departure from the controlling precedent.

The Court of Appeals’s decision that A.M.’s vulnerability was a substantial factor merely because A.M. was vulnerable is contrary to this Court’s precedents and its own. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The decision burdens Mr. McCarter’s due process right to

proof beyond a reasonable doubt and implicates the public's interest in the circumstances in which a trial court may sentence a person above the standard range. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). This Court should grant review.

b. In holding Mr. McCarter abused a position of trust solely because a position of trust existed, the Court of Appeals contradicted precedent.

Another basis for an exceptional sentence is that the accused person “used his . . . position of trust . . . to facilitate the commission of the current offense.” RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n); *see* CP 483.

“[N]ot every crime committed by a parent against a child involves an abuse of a position of trust” *State v. Grewe*, 117 Wn.2d 211, 220, 813 P.2d 1238 (1991). The “position of trust” aggravator does not apply unless the accused person somehow used their position as a parent to facilitate committing a crime

against the child. *State v. Brown*, 60 Wn. App. 60, 76, 802 P.2d 803 (1990).

In *Brown*, the father was accused of striking the child hard enough to leave bruises, leading to a conviction of second-degree assault. 60 Wn. App. at 62–63. The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence based on a finding that the father “used his position of trust and confidence as the child’s father to facilitate the commission of the crime.” *Id.* at 64.

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