FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/3/2024 1:16 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1031432

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,

v.

DAMIEN CHARLES MCCARTER,
Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM
THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
Court of Appeals No. 85919-6-I
Kitsap County Superior Court No. 19-1-01614-18

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD M. ENRIGHT
Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN L. CROSS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366

SERVICE

Christopher Petroni, WAP
1511 Third Ave., Ste. 610
Seattle, WA 98101
Email: wapofficemail@washapp.org
chris@washapp.org

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

V. ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW CORRECTLY DECIDED THE ISSUES AND THE CRITERIA FOR REVIEW ARE NOT MET.

- 1. The Court of Appeals properly found that the trial court’s restriction of defense counsel’s argument was error but that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.*

McCarter argues error in the Court of Appeals use of the harmless error rule but omitting the overwhelming, untainted evidence aspect of the rule. The proper standard was applied and the Court of Appeals followed directly relevant precedent.

The overwhelming evidence rule is not an essential piece of the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard.

First, McCarter admits that even without the overwhelming, untainted evidence principle, the proper standard is that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Petition at 8, *citing State v. Frost*, 160 Wn.2d 765, 782, 161 P.3d 361 (2007). The Court of Appeals used the same rule: “In order to hold the error harmless, we must ‘conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error.’” Slip. Op. at 18, *quoting State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 (2002) (*quoting Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 19, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999)).

The *Brown* Court engaged a harmless error analysis of an erroneous accomplice instruction that was used in two separate trials. *Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330. The *Brown* Court recited the above rule. 147 Wn.2d at 341. Again, quoting *Neder, supra*, the Court held that an instruction that omits an element is harmless

“if that element is supported by uncontroverted evidence.” Id. The question requires that the reviewing court “thoroughly examine the record.” Id. It was decided that some applications of the erroneous instruction were harmless and some were not. But the findings of harmless error never required a finding of overwhelming, untainted evidence; that standard is not mentioned in the decision.

Recently, December, 2023, this Court articulated the constitutional harmless error rule in the same manner: “When constitutional harmless error applies, we must reverse unless we are persuaded, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not affect the verdict.” *State v. Charlton*, 2 Wn.3d 421, 428-29, 538 P.3d 1289 (2023). The rule was applied to a violation of the right to counsel in a preliminary appearance. Taking no pause to consider the quantum of proof in the case, the Supreme Court found the constitutional error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt primarily because “Nothing in the argument or record before us suggests that counsel's absence affected the verdict in

any way.” 2 Wn.3d at 429. McCarter’s assertion that constitutional harmless error analysis must include a overwhelming evidence is mistaken.

The *Charlton* Court relied on *State v. Orn*, 197 Wn.2d 343, 482 P.3d 913 (2021). In *Orn*, violations of the constitutional right to present a defense and to confront adverse witnesses were analyzed under the harmless error rule. 197 Wn.2d at 358-59. Again the rule was that

An error is harmless and not grounds for reversal if the appellate court is assured [by the State] beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have reached the same verdict without the error.

197 Wn.2d at 359 (bracket by the court). Never discussing a particular quantum of evidence and notwithstanding the erroneous restriction of impeachment evidence, the court must “find the error harmless if, in light of the entire trial record, we are convinced that the jury would have reached the same verdict absent the error.” *Id.* Considerations include the

properly admitted direct and circumstantial evidence...and the overall significance of the erroneously admitted or excluded evidence in this

context (e.g., whether it was cumulative or corroborated, or consistent with the defense theory).

Id. Once again, this Court failed to note the overwhelming, untainted evidence aspect of the rule. The evidentiary strength of the case is important in the analysis but, particularly where other circumstances attend, the overwhelming nature is not the *sine qua nom* of constitutional harmless error.

Here, the Court of Appeals followed the harmless error analysis found in a nearly identical case. *State v. Osman*, 192 Wn. App. 355, 366 P.3d 956 (2016). The *Osman* Court, again, made no reference to the overwhelming, untainted evidence standard. That Court followed the command of the Supreme Court and carefully examined the record. Review of the law and the facts under the circumstances of that case led to the conclusion that the error found was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The measure of harmlessness was “beyond a reasonable doubt” and no other factual standard was considered.

The factual standard in consideration of the harmless error question is beyond a reasonable doubt. A finding of overwhelming, untainted evidence may be sufficient to support the conclusion of harmless error, but it is not a necessary component of that conclusion. The cases show that a thorough review of the record may lead to a conclusion of harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt without reference to that standard. There was no error and this issue should not be reviewed.

2. The Court of Appeals followed precedent in deciding that the diagnostic impressions of the various physicians did not constitute opinions as to guilt or invade the province of the jury.

McCarter claims the Court of Appeals erred by holding that the diagnostic impressions of the medical professionals did not constitute improper opinions as to McCarter's guilt or invade the province of the jury.

Here, the Court of Appeals relied on this Court's precedent, primarily *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 155 P.3d 125 (2007), in rejecting McCarter's claim. The controlling rule from *Kirkman* being "an expert may express an "opinion

on a proper subject even though [they] thereby express[] an opinion on the ultimate fact to be found by the trier of fact.” Slip op. at 10, *quoting Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 929. More, “if the testimony does not directly comment on the defendant’s guilt or veracity, helps the jury, and is based on inferences from the evidence, it is not improper opinion testimony.” Slip op. at 9-10, *quoting State v. Johnson*, 152 Wn. App. 924, 930-31, 219 P.3d 958 (2009).

The Court rejected McCarter’s reliance there, as here, on *State v. Florczak*, 76 Wn. App. 55, 72, 882 P.2d 199 (1994). Slip op. at 10-11. There, the expert testimony that addressed an ultimate issue exclusively implicated the defendants while in the present case none of the testimony directly implicated McCarter. *Id.* Moreover,

the physical evidence of AM’s injuries was overwhelming and the expert testimony characterizing those injuries as resulting from “abusive head trauma” and “nonaccidental trauma” did not take away the jury’s role in finding whether the injuries occurred by outside force at all, as opposed to a bone disease, or who was responsible for them.

Slip op. at 11. In sum,

No expert witness directly commented on McCarter's guilt or otherwise testified that McCarter intentionally harmed AM, and no expert witness offered an opinion as to the specific mechanism that caused AM's injuries.

Slip op. at 12.

Prior authority, *In re Morris, supra*, has held the diagnoses advanced to be admissible; not tainted. The medical testimony did not cross the line from admissible diagnosis to opinion on guilt. The decision below is consistent with the authority cited and need not be reviewed.

3. *The Court of Appeals correctly found sufficient evidence to support the jury's finding that beyond a reasonable doubt McCarter preyed upon a particularly vulnerable victim and abused his position of trust over the victim.*

McCarter claims the court below erred by finding that sufficient facts supported the jury's verdicts on two aggravating circumstances. Particular vulnerability is not shown because McCarter's intentional murder of the child was not committed "because" of the child's vulnerability. Petition at 22, 23.

McCarter admits that the Court of Appeals followed this Court's precedent but disagrees with the application of that precedent. Pet. at 23-24. Similarly, McCarter complains that abuse of a position of trust is not shown because he did not "use" or "exploit" that obviously existing position to facilitate his crime. Petition at 27-28.

First, McCarter presents the standard of review as including that the evidence be "viewed favorably to the prosecution." Pet. at 18. The court below properly viewed the evidence "in the light *most favorable* to the State" drawing all reasonable inferences "in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant." Slip op. at 21. These analytical rules followed from both published Court of Appeals precedent and this Court's precedent: *State v. Chanthabouly*, 164 Wn. App. 104, 143, 262 P.3d 144 (2011) and *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

The Court of Appeals accepted McCarter's concession that the child was particularly vulnerable and that McCarter

knew it. Slip op. at 22. The Court considered the remaining question of whether the vulnerability was a “substantial factor” in the crime. *Id.* Here, the Court turned to the case McCarter dislikes, *State v. Berube*, 150 Wn.2d 498, 513, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003), a case factually very similar to the present case.

In *Berube*, this Court held that “Extreme youth is a valid factor when considering the vulnerability of a victim.” Slip op. at 23. The homicide victim was a 23-month-old, Kyle, who had been repeatedly abused by his father and step-parent. 150 Wn.2d at 513. The Court held that extreme youth alone can establish the vulnerability aggravator. *Id.* The child there was “completely dependent’ on the defendants and unable to defend himself. *Id.*

Below, the Court followed this authority: “The reasoning set out in *Berube* applies here. Not only was AM, like Kyle, the child of the defendant, but AM was 21 months younger than Kyle.” Slip op. at 23. Extreme youth means the victim, AM, depended on McCarter for “care and survival.” *Id.* AM could

not communicate or defend himself. *Id.* From this evidence, taken in the light most favorable to the state, “a rational trier of fact could have found AM to be a particularly vulnerable victim based on extreme youth, which was a substantial factor as it enabled McCarter to inflict injuries as severe as those identified in AM by the various medical experts.” *Id.*

The Court of Appeals also followed *Berube* in deciding that sufficient evidence supports the jury’s verdict on abuse of a position of trust. Slip op. at 24. Following this Court’s authority, the Court of Appeals considered the duration and degree of the relationship as-well-as this court’s holding that “[o]ne aspect of children’s extreme vulnerability is their tendency to trust.” Slip op. at 24, quoting *State v. Grewe*, 117 Wn.2d 211, 221, 813 P.2d 1238 (1991).

The Supreme Court also sustained the abuse of trust aggravator by the following facts

The fact that Berube was Kyle's parent and Nielsen was a parent-figure gave them unmonitored access to Kyle. Both individuals abused their positions by

repeatedly assaulting Kyle until the injuries finally killed him.

150 Wn.2d at 513. The Court of Appeals found that the circumstances of relationship in the present case were “just like the circumstances in *Berube*.” Slip op. at 25. McCarter did the same as Berube with an even more vulnerable two-month-old child. In a light most favorable to the state, “the evidence is sufficient for a reasonable juror to conclude that McCarter abused his position of trust to facilitate this crime.”

A properly instructed jury could easily find that an infant victim of homicide by a parent was particularly vulnerable and had no choice but to trust his care giver/assailant. The strikingly similar facts and circumstances found in *State v. Berube* provide authority that the two aggravators here found were appropriately supported by the evidence. There was no error and this issue need not be reviewed.

4. *The Court of Appeals properly found that the jury's affirmative verdicts on the aggravating circumstances constituted substantial and compelling reasons as a matter of law for the imposition of an exceptional sentence.*

McCarter claims that the Court of Appeals erred by sustaining the trial court conclusion of law that the jury's verdicts on the aggravating circumstances provided "substantial and compelling" reasons to impose an exceptional sentence. He claims that the "substantial and compelling" question must be determined by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Court of Appeals moved directly to controlling precedent, saying "this court has already considered and rejected the arguments McCarter now presents." Slip op. at 26, *citing State v. Sage*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 685, 407 P.3d 359 (2017).

The holding in *Sage* was

Washington cases recognize that once the jury by special verdict makes the factual determination whether aggravating circumstances have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, 'the trial judge is left only with the legal conclusion of whether the facts alleged and found were sufficiently substantial and compelling to warrant an exceptional sentence.'"

Sage at 708, *quoting State v. Suleiman*, 158 Wn.2d 280, 291-92, 143 P.3d 795 (2006). Moreover, the driver of McCarter’s argument, the holding in *Hurst v. Florida*, 577 U.S. 92, 136 S. Ct. 616, 193 L. Ed. 2d 504 (2016), was distinguished in that there a jury gave merely an advisory verdict on the facts allowing the judge the ultimate decision and in Washington “the jury exclusively resolves the factual question whether the aggravating circumstances have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.” Slip op. at 27-28, *quoting Sage*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 710.

The United States Supreme Court recently decided another issue under the *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 306, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004) line of cases. In *Erlinger v. U.S.*, __U.S.__, 2024 WL 3074427 (June 21, 2024) the Supreme Court decided whether, when a sentence is automatically increased based on findings that the defendant has been previously convicted of specified crimes, a judge or jury must find those crimes. The answer is the jury: “Presented

with evidence about the times, locations, purpose, and character of those crimes, a jury might have concluded that some or all occurred on different occasions. Or it might not have done so.”

Although *Erlinger* decides a different question, some language there supports the Court of Appeals in this matter. The Court noted that the Fifth and Sixth Amendments promises that “a judge's power to punish would “deriv[e] wholly” from, and remain always “control[led]” by, the jury and its verdict.” *Id.* at *6. Thus, a judge could not ““swell the penalty above what the law ... provided for the acts”” found by a jury of the defendant's peers.” *Id.*

In the present case, it is the jury’s verdicts on the established aggravating circumstances that controlled the trial court’s discretion in sentencing. The judge could not have imposed an exceptional sentence without those verdicts. The verdicts themselves are the “substantial and compelling reasons” for the imposition of the upward departure. It was not error to so find.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court deny McCarter's petition for review.

VII. CERTIFICATION

This document contains 3379 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.